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some men making it back to Vicksburg.
The men that got away, including Ludwell,
were then assigned to Culbertson’s Battery.
Lieutenant Cowan lived in the house until
his death on May 24, 1892.4

View of house from northwest,

Figure A-4
unknown date c¢. 1900. J. Mack Moore Collection,
negative no. 105.

Lieutenant Cowan’s widow continued to
reside in the house for some time after his
death. According to city directories, a Dr. J.
Warren King also lived in the house as early
as 1906, along with Mrs. Cowan. The 1914
Directory names Dr. King’s wife as Helen
J., and lists him as “Physician and Manager
of King & Co., Prescription Druggists and
Dealers in Paints, Oils & Varnish, Surgical
Supplies, etc. (1204 Washington).”® Mrs.
Cowan died on October 17, 1914. On April

10, 1919, the house was deeded by

“2 Carl Mclntire, “National Landmark: Pemberton
Headquarters at Vicksburg Gets Recognition,”
Clarion-Ledger: Jackson Daily News, 28 May 1978.
“ Polk’s Vicksburg City Directory of 1914.

executors of her estate to the Sisters of Mercy.**

The Sisters of Mercy
When the Sisters of Mercy acquired the house,
they were continuing an educational legacy that
began in Vicksburg in 1860.
Catholic Bishop of Natchez

In that year, the
requested a
contingent of the Sisters to come from their
home in Baltimore, Maryland, to set up a
school. There was no parochial education in
Vicksburg at that time (the first public school
had opened in 1847), and the number of
Catholic residents was increasing. The Sisters
first used the Cobb House across Crawford
Street from the Willis-Cowan House for their
convent. Their school opened in October 1860
and operated until 1862 when shelling forced
them to close. The Sisters then agreed to serve
the Confederate Army as nurses. After the war,
they sought to return to their convent building,
but Union occupiers were using the building as
barracks. The Sisters’ connections in Baltimore
persuaded Secretary of War Edwin Stanton to
issue orders returning the building. Then the
Sisters built a larger convent on the corner of
Crawford and Adams in 1868. In the 1880s
they added an auditorium at Crawford and
Cherry streets and their school continued to

grow.®

4 Warren County Deed Records, Book 137, page 436.
“ Sister Ignatius Sumner, R.S.M., Sister Mary P. Oakes,
R.S.M., ed., Angels of Mercy: An Eyewitness Account of
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Sister M. Clementine kept records that are
now invaluable regarding the Sisters’ 1919
acquisition of the Willis-Cowan House and

subsequent repair and modification:

Improvements July 1, 1917 — July 1, 1920

The great increase in the boarding
department in 1918-19 forced us to look
about for more commodious apartments.
Being unable to build a dormitory, we
thought of renting the upper part of the old
Cowan property. However, this was
absolutely untenable, and the heirs refused
to improve. The matter was then laid before
the Bishop who allowed us to purchase the
house for $5000.00. This amount was
borrowed from Mr. T. M. Morrissey at 5%
interest, the good Bishop kindly giving us
$500.00 to pay the first years interest.

Bishop Gunn showed his usual solicitude
regarding the Sisters’ health and comfort
and donated the sum of $1000 towards the
erection of a sleeping porch, which porch
together with the room below cost $1770.00.
The above work was done by Messtrs.
Curphey and Mundy, who also floored six
downstairs rooms and did general repair
work, amounting to $1203.25.

We installed two bathtubs, one shower bath,
lavatories, etc. under Mr. Chas Roesch’s
auspices, as well as roofing the porch,
repairing the other parts of the roof, putting
up gutters etc. at a cost of $1184.63.

Mr. J. Laughlin was employed to renew the
plastering in the rooms that had previously
been plastered, besides that he did a good
deal of brick work, concrete walks etc. the
whole amounting to $764.05.

Mr. Albert Bonhauser was engaged to paint
both the interior and exterior of the entire
house his services amounting to $925.00.

Civil War and Yellow Fever (Baltimore: Cathedral
Foundation Press, 1998).

The paint, varnish and all materials of that class
were bought of the Pittsburgh Plate Glass Co. of
New Orleans, for $738.66.

Improvements from July 1920 to July 1923

We had borrowed from Mr. Morrissey $5000.00
to cover Cowan property... now St. Anthony’s.
On April 29, 1921 we borrowed this amount
from the First National Bank in order to pay Mr.
Morrissey. The bank charging 6%.

On the same day we paid the First National

Bank.......... $1000.00
On April 25,1922.........ven $1000.00
ONOCt. 29,1922 .cevv e, $2000.00
Paid in full Oct. 23, 1922................ $1000.00
$5000.00%

Upon their ownership of the house, the Sisters
began calling the house St. Anthony’s Hall,
presumably to distinguish it as part of their

religious complex. Several alumnae wrote

letters to the editor of the Vicksburg Post to
compliment the school soon after the house was
acquired and repairs made. The first, undated

but assumed c. 1920, reads:

...A visit was made to the new St. Anthony’s
Hall, fitted out during the past summer. The
downstairs has been set aside for the commercial
department, and stenographic courses. The
appointments being the latest and selected with
taste and plainness, beautiful hardwood floors
have also been put in, and the freshly painted
interior make all pleasing to the eye. The upper
floors are to be used as dormitories, with shower
baths and all modern sanitary improvements,
also a beautiful sleeping porch accommodation
[sic] a dozen beds or more.*’

% Sister M. Clementine, Superior, July 30, 1926, Sisters
of Mercy Vicksburg Archives, Southern Cultural Heritage
Foundation.

47 etter to the Editor of the Vicksburg Post, undated but
assumed c. 1920, Scrapbook 6, Sisters of Mercy
Vicksburg Archives, Southern Cultural Heritage
Foundation.
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Another, also assumed c. 1920, echoes those

sentiments:

...The recently renovated and spacious St.
Anthony’s Hall is devoted to the Business or
Commercial Course. Only the other day the
latest model of Burrough’s Bookkeeping
machine was installed. The machine is
being used by all banks and many wholesale
houses and when mastered by a young
business student, enable her to command
double an ordinary salary.*®

An article entitled “New Notes of Interest

from St. Francis Xavier’s Academy,”

published in the Vicksburg Post-Herald in

May of 1920, gives even more information:

...The year 1920 marks a new epoch in the
annals of the Academy — the graduation of
the first Commercial Class from St
Anthony’s Hall — the newly established
business branch of St. Xavier’s... Class "20
of the Commercial Department has also
worked wonders in their task of fully
equipping two rooms in St. Anthony’s Hall
by installing two typewriters, a handsome
and up-to-date Burroughs Bookkeeping
machine, and a Rotospeed.*

City directories from 1921 and 1924 list St.
Francis Xavier’s Academy at the house now
numbered 1018 Crawford, while directories
from 1926 to 1946 also call the house St.
Anthony’s Hall. A 1991 interview with
Marie Pantoliano, who attended the school
beginning in the late 1920’s, gives more

insight into how the house was used:

“8 |etter to the Editor of the Vicksburg Post, “St.
Francis Xavier’s Academy,” undated but assumed c.
1920, Scrapbook 6, Sisters of Mercy Vicksburg
Archives, Southern Cultural Heritage Foundation.
“9 “New Notes of Interest from St. Francis Xavier’s
Academy,” Vicksburg Post-Herald, May 1920,
Scrapbook 6, Sisters of Mercy Vicksburg Archives,
Southern Cultural Heritage Foundation.

ST ANTHONY'S HALL

Photo marked ““St. Anthony’s Hall”,
from a booklet entitled St. Francis Xavier Academy,

Figure A-5

unknown date, assumed c. 1920.

In the afternoon hours, having school only one
block west, I'd go up to what is now
Pemberton’s Headquarters. The boarding
students lived there in the years when | was in
the elementary grades, and | just loved this
because | could go back when I finished my
homework and visit with the boarding students
and play on [sic] the yard with the other kids...
But the Sisters had a wonderful boarding school
up there in those years; girls were there from all
over this part of the country, Louisiana, and
down south of us and east of us.*®

In the early 1940’s, the role of the house then
known as St. Anthony’s Hall began to change as
the Sisters took on more responsibility within
The Vicksburg
Sanitarium/Street Sanitarium, begun by Dr.
Donald P. Street in 1900, asked the Sisters of

the city of Vicksburg.

Mercy to assume its operations in 1942; the
Sisters agreed, and prepared to run the hospital

and instruct its nurses. The name of the

institution ~ was  changed to Mercy

% susan Tolbert, “An Interview With Marie Pantoliano”,
March 1991, from “St. Francis School: Cradle of
Humanities 1860-1890,” Oral History Interviews, Vol.
IV, No. 16, Sisters of Mercy Vicksburg Archives,
Southern Cultural Heritage Foundation.
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Hospital/Street Memorial when the Sisters
assumed operations on August 15, 1943. At
that time, the Willis-Cowan House became
the student nurses’ quarters® as well as the
Street Clinic Medical Library. City
from 1948 to 1956 list this
library along with St. Anthony’s Hall at
1018 Crawford Street.

nursing students lived upstairs, and the

directories

During this time,

classrooms located

The parlor to the left of the

library and were
downstairs.
main hall was the doctors’ boardroom; the
halls and the parlor on the right contained
the library itself. The librarian’s office was
located in the small rear room on the left of
the main hall. Chemistry and anatomy labs
were conducted in the rear addition, and the
Kitchen Building housed the mimeograph
machine along with an autopsy room.>* The
1950-51 city directory also shows Elizabeth
Fincher, personnel director at Mercy
Hospital, as living in the house. In 1957 a
new building for Mercy Hospital/Street
Memorial was constructed on Grove Street,
and all associated activities moved to this
building. City directories from 1958 to 1962

list the house as vacant.

*! “Fine Medical Facilities Afforded by Hospitals,”
Vicksburg Sunday Post, 15 October 1972.

%2 Details of the layout as given on 30 June 2004 by
Glenda LaGarde, Director of the Southern Cultural
Heritage Foundation, whose mother was librarian
there until c. 1957.

In subsequent years, the house was used by the
The
1964 city directory calls it St. Anthony’s

Sisters for operation of a kindergarten.

Kindergarten; from 1965 to 1968 it was known
as the St. Francis Xavier Kindergarten. In 1969
the house was again indicated as vacant.
Officially listed on the National Register of
Historic Places on July 23, 1970, the house was
later sold by the Sisters of Mercy to William
Robbins.>

In the 1980’s, the Mother House of the Sisters
of Mercy in St. Louis elected to close the school
in Vicksburg, because there were fewer nuns,
fewer responsibilities, and less money. The
convent was officially closed in 1989, and the
last Sisters of Mercy left Vicksburg in

December 1999.

After the Sisters of Mercy

William Robbins bought the house on March
19, 1973, intending to restore it as a home for
himself, his wife, and their son.>* The Robbins
family lived on the upper floor while working to
restore the first floor, but in 1983 the effort
slowed as the expenses mounted. For a while,
Robbins opened the house on weekends for
public tours charging a modest admission fee.*®

%% Warren County Deed Records, Book 502, page 45.

> “Pemberton House Will Be Restored,” Vicksburg
Sunday Post, 25 March 1973.

** Sylvia Campbell Hall, “General’s ghost leads tourists to
wartime past,” Jackson Clarion-Ledger, 2 August 1983.
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Figure A-6
American Buildings Survey, MS-266-1. April 1972,
photographer Jack E. Boucher.

Photograph from the Historic

Complaints accumulated regarding the
deteriorated appearance of the house and the
lack of progress in correcting the unsightly

conditions. In response, the city building
inspector in March of 1991 declared the
house to be “dangerous”; Robbins was
ordered to make repairs in a timely manner
or face the consequence of being forced to
demolish the house.®® In an apparent
delaying action, Robbins deeded the house
to his son, William Robbins, Jr., in May of

1995.°" The following year the city decreed

% Leslie Criss, “Historic Home Gets Reprieve from
Demolition,” Vicksburg Evening Post, 22 June 1991.
" Warren County Deed Records, Book 1044, page
103.

the younger Robbins guilty of demolition by
neglect; he subsequently declared his intention
to sell the house. In a dramatic development,
Robbins was arrested on the neglect charge
when he came to Vicksburg in December of

1996 to complete the promised sale.*®

The new owners of the house, Andrew and
Beverly Johnson,” were more successful in
completing the long-overdue repairs. In early
1997, they began the tasks necessary to renovate
the house as a bed and breakfast. After a major
reworking of the existing building material and
installation of modern utilities, it opened for
business in 2000.°° Repairs included rebuilding
the south masonry wall of the main block of the
house, rebuilding the interior dining room wall
that was removed in 1851, and partitioning off
rooms to create bathrooms and a kitchen. The
business closed the following year, and the

house again became vacant.

Addition to Vicksburg National
Park

When Congress enacted legislation establishing
the Vicksburg National Military Park in 1899, it
provided only for the “marking with historical

Military

tablets ...the headquarters of General Grant and

of General Pemberton,” even though the

%8 Paul Purpura, “Pemberton House sold to couple in
Tennessee,” Vicksburg Post, 11 December 1996.

* Warren County Deed Records, Book 1073, page 433.
% Alison Hopton Davis, Mississippi Magazine,
September/October 2000.
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likely its original location. On the
opposite side of the chimney would likely
have been a matching cupboard, almost
certainly the one moved in 1997-99 to the
room above, Room 205. (The cupboard
now in Room 205 was apparently moved
to the southeast corner of Room 106 in the
1850-51 reorganization of Rooms 105 and
106 into a single room; the two cupboards
then once again appeared to be end-pieces

along one wall of the same room.)

Room 106A & B: Originally constructed as
sections of an open porch in 1835-36, they
were enclosed in the expansion of 1850-51.
At the same time, the east wall of the Dining
Room, Room 105, was demolished. Thus,
Room 105 and the new Room 106 became one

large dining area.

Figure C — 26 Room 106A

Flooring: The 1970s, tongue-and-groove,
2Y4” red oak flooring was laid east-to-west
here and in Room 105 into which Room
106 opened. By the 1990s, there was
termite damage throughout the red oak
flooring of Rooms 105 and 106. During
the remodeling of 1997-99, the perimeter
of the original Dining Room, Room 105,
was re-established, and the Dining Room
Extension, Room 106, was subdivided.
Red oak flooring was salvaged from the
area that became Room Section 106B, and
used to patch the flooring of 106A and
105. In its place, a plywood subfloor with
carpet was installed in the resultant
bathroom of Room 106B.

Walls: In 1997-99, at the east wall, early
lime plaster, perhaps the original dating to
1850-51, was patched, the south wall was
furred out with gypsum board to create a
plumbing chase, and a new wall was
constructed where the 1835-36 east wall of
the Dining Room, Room 105, originally
stood. Also in 1997-99, an east-west,
gypsum board on stud, cross wall was
constructed to divide the room into two
sections. All wall surfaces in 106A are
gypsum board.

Doors: The wide doorway with transom
to the Entrance Hall Extension, Room 107,
dates to 1850-51. Originally framed for
two pocket doors, it was later converted
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for a pair of hinged doors. The doors are
now missing and presumably are among
the doors stored in Room 001. The wide
cased doorway to Room 105 was
constructed in 1997-99 when the wall
between Room 105 and Room 106 was
partially reconstructed. The door casing is
a very poor replication of the Greek
Revival style detailing found elsewhere in
the house. The modern French door on the
east wall of Room Section 106A leading
outside was installed in the 1997-99 in an
existing triple-hung sash window frame,
and the transom is a salvaged architectural
antique the owner bought at auction. The
window frame probably dates to the 1835-
36 period that was reinstalled in this
location during the 1850-51 modifications.
The doorway to Room 109B already
existed by the mid-1990s. A modern, cast-
resin reproduction of an historic six-panel
door was installed in the opening during
the 1997-99 remodeling.

Windows: The one window unit in Room
Section 106B contains two sashes in a 12-
over-12 light configuration; one sash is
Type A and the other is Type B. The
frame is actually a triple-hung sash unit. It
probably dates to the 1835-36 period and
was relocated to this location during the
1850-51 remodeling.

Ceiling: The early lime plaster ceiling
was replaced with gypsum board in 1997-
99 and a modern synthetic medallion was
installed in the center of the ceiling.

The tall, 1850-51 vintage,

Greek Revival style baseboards with flush

Baseboards:
caps, mimicking the 1835-36 designs
found in the earliest portions of the house,
are partially intact in Room 106 but have
In Room 106B the

baseboards and caps are modern and were

been rearranged.

installed during the 1997-99 remodeling.
Fireplace & Mantel: None are present.
The floor of Room 106A is

varnished. The floor of Room 106B has a

Finishes:

wall to wall carpet, installed in 1997-99.
Walls, ceilings, and trim are painted. The
woodwork was stripped in 1997-99.

Mechanical & Electrical Systems: A
modern metal floor register at the
windows of Room Section 106B supplies
the heating and cooling. A modern,

electrical, pseudo-historical chandelier
hangs from the center of the ceiling of
Room Section 106A and another in Room
Section 106B. A modern lavatory, toilet
and bath tub was installed in Room
Section 106B in the 1997-99 repair effort.

Other Features: None are present.
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Room 107: Originally constructed as an open

porch in 1835-36, it was enclosed in the

remodeling of 1850-51 and became an

extension of the Entrance Hall, Room 102.

- Flooring: The 1919, 3%” tongue-and-
groove, pine flooring was laid north-south
on top of the 1850-51 flooring.

- Walls: In 1997-99, the early lime plaster,
presumably the original dating to 1850-51,

was patched.

Figure C - 27 View into Room 107 from the Stair
Hall, Room 104

- Doors: The openings to the Entrance
Hall, Room 102, and the Stair Hall, Room
104, apparently date to 1835-36 as
indicated by the decorative lintel panels on
what was originally exterior brick walls.
(The lintel corner blocks were removed
from the opening to the Entrance Hall
when the wall separating Rooms 107 and
108 was constructed.) Either opening
could have been a doorway or a window
originally.  After 1850-51, both were

doorways with transom. The pair of
paneled, bi-fold doors that led to the Stair
Hall, Room 104, were removed in 1997-99
and placed in storage in Room 001. The
doors leading to the Entrance Hall (Room
102) were missing at that time but may be
in Room 001 as well. The doorway with
transom to the Dining Room Extension,
Room 106A, was constructed for a pair of
picket doors in 1850-51. The doorway
with transom to Room 108 was
constructed for a pocket door in 1850-51;
the current swinging door was installed
prior to 1997-99. Door trim is Greek
Revival style dating to 1850-51.

Windows: None are present.

Ceiling: The early lime plaster ceiling
was replaced with gypsum board in 1997-
99.

Baseboards: The tall, 1850-51 vintage,
Greek Revival style baseboards with flush
cap, mimicking the 1835-36 designs found
in the earliest portions of the house, are
intact.

Fireplace & Mantel: None are present.
Finishes: The floor is varnished. Walls,
ceiling, and trim are painted. The
woodwork was stripped in 1997-99.
Mechanical & Electrical Systems: There
is a modern, metal, floor return grill. A
modern,  electrical,  pseudo-historical
chandelier/fan combination hangs from the
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center of the ceiling. There are modern,
pseudo-historical switch plates and outlet
Ccovers.

- Other Features: None are present.

Room 108: Originally constructed as part of
an open porch in 1835-36, this section was
enclosed in the remodeling of 1850-51.

Figure C-28 Room 108

- Flooring: Circa 1919, 3%” tongue-and-
groove, pine flooring was laid east-west on
top of the 1850-51 flooring.

- Walls: In 1997-99, the early lime plaster,
presumably the original dating to 1850-51,
was patched.

- Doors: The doorway to the Entrance Hall
Extension, Room 107, retains its 1850-51
vintage, Greek Revival style door casing.
The tracks for the original pocket door are
also present, but the current swing door
was apparently salvaged from elsewhere in

the house and installed in this location at

some subsequent date. The doorway on
the south side of the room leads to Room
110, a small attached frame structure
housing a student restroom. The addition
first appears on a 1913 Sanborn Fire
Insurance Company map. The entrance
door was created from an existing
window.

Windows: A triple-hung sash window unit
of 1835-36 Type A design, was probably
moved in 1850-51 from the south wall of
the East Parlor to its current east elevation
location. (A double-hung sash window,
perhaps a modified triple-hung unit, was
removed when the south wall was rebuilt
in 1997-99.)

Ceiling: The early lime plaster ceiling
was replaced with gypsum board in 1997-
99.

Baseboards: The tall, 1850-51 vintage,
Greek Revival style baseboards with flush
cap, mimicking the 1835-36 designs found
in the earliest portions of the house, are
largely intact; sections have been removed
to install the bookcase and the doorway to
the Student Restroom, Room 110.
Fireplace & Mantel: A small, corner
fireplace was installed in 1850-51. The
wood mantel is distinguished by two
brackets, each topped with an acanthus

leaf, beneath a plain frieze.
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Finishes: The floor is varnished. Walls,
ceilings and trim are painted. The
woodwork was stripped in the 1997-99
repairs.

Mechanical & Electrical Systems: A
modern,  electrical,  pseudo-historical
chandelier/fan combination hangs from the
center of the ceiling. There are modern,
pseudo-historical switch plates and outlet
covers.

Other Features: A built-in bookcase was
constructed in 1997-99 in a doorway to the
East Parlor, Room 101. (Reportedly, the
four-panel Victorian door that was at this
location matched the door leading from
this room to Room 110, the student
restroom, and the door casing matched the
plain, unadorned door casings of the

Kitchen, Room 109.)

Room 201: This, the Northeast Bedroom, is

one of two bedrooms on the second level of

the 1835-36 house that are larger and more

finely detailed. These bedrooms feature the

most intricate mantel friezes in the house, and

the more complex window sash.

Figure C-29 Room 201

Flooring: The 1970s, tongue-and-groove,
2Y4” red oak flooring is laid east-to-west
on top of the original random width
flooring.
Walls:
original, was patched during the 1997-99

Early lime plaster, probably

remodeling.

Figure C - 30

“PERKS” Hinge
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Doors: In the doorway to the Hall, Room
202, an original five-panel door is hung
with two early, 4%", 5-knuckle, iron butt
hinges with the
“PERKS;” a modern, 5-knuckle hinge has

been added at mid-section of the door.

fabricator’s mark:

This doorway retains its original 1835-36
vintage, Greek Revival style, paneled
jambs and head, and door casing. A
second doorway, also with paneled jambs
and header, opens to Room 208, a section
of the original open porch that was
enclosed to be a secondary space in 1850-
51. The door is a five-panel door hung
with two modern 5-knuckle butt hinges.

This doorway has Greek Revival style

trim, probably dating to 1850-51,
mimicking the 1835-36 trim found
elsewhere.

Windows: Four original window units,

two on the east wall and two on the north,
contain 12-over-12 light, double-hung,
window sash. All but two sashes are the
more sophisticated Type A of 1835-36.
Two sashes are Type B, the two sashes in
the window south of the fireplace which
were placed here from the Southwest
Bedroom, Room 205, when the cupboard
was moved there in 1997-99.

Ceiling: The flat plaster was replaced in

the 1997-99 repairs with gypsum board.

Baseboards: The tall, 1835-36 vintage,

Greek Revival style baseboards with
beveled caps are largely intact, except for
a missing section where the 1850-51
doorway was added to access ancillary
space of Room 208.

Fireplace & Mantel: At the center of the
east wall, opposite the door from the
entrance hall, is the fireplace. The Greek
Revival style, wood mantel, with fluted
columns, presumably dating to 1835-36,
matches the one in the other major
bedroom, Room 203, and is similar to the
one in the third 1835-36 bedroom, Room
205. The firebox has had modifications: a
metal strap has been added as support for
the lintel, a liner of additional brick has
been added to the firebox, and a modern
cement hearth has been poured.

Finishes: The floor is varnished. The
wall, ceilings, and trim are painted, except
for the varnished mantel. The woodwork
was stripped in the 1997-99 repair effort.
Mechanical & Electrical Systems: Two,
modern circular ceiling registers supply
the heating and cooling. An electrical,

pseudo-historical chandelier and fan
combination hangs from the center of the
ceiling. Modern, pseudo-historical switch

plates and outlet covers are in place.
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Other Features: Two wrought iron hooks,
used for hanging a picture or mirror, are in

the chimney breast.

Room 202: This Hall separates the two major

bedrooms and provides a common access to

the upper front entrance porch.

Flooring: The 1970s, tongue-and-groove,
2%,,” red oak flooring was laid east-west
on top of the original random width
flooring.
Walls:

original, was patched during the late 1997-

The early lime plaster, probably

99 repairs.

Room 202

Figure C-31

Doors: The doorway to the upper level of
the front entrance porch is located at the
north end of the room. Most of the
component parts are probably original,
dating to the 1835-36 construction period.
Like its match at first level, it is a

spectacular example of Greek Revival

style design and craftsmanship. The eight-
panel door is secured with three 5-knuckle,
4%,” iron, butt hinges. The original and
early rim locks are missing. Immediately
opposite, a complimentary composition of
fluted pilasters, architrave, and transom
frame a double doorway; here there is a
pair of five-panel doors, each with two, 5-
knuckle, 4” iron butt hinges labeled
“PERKS.” The doorways to the two large
bedrooms, Rooms 201 and 203, opposite
each other to the east and west, retain their
1835-36 vintage, Greek Revival style,
paneled jambs and head, and fluted casing.
Windows: None are present.

Ceiling: The early lime plaster ceiling
was patched and the synthetic center
medallion was added in the 1997-99 repair
effort.
Baseboards: The tall, 1835-36 vintage,
Greek Revival style baseboards with
beveled caps are intact.

Fireplace & Mantel: None are present.
Finishes: The floor is varnished. Walls,
ceilings, door, transom, sidelight, and trim
are painted. The woodwork was stripped
in the 1997-99.

Mechanical & Electrical Systems: A
modern circular ceiling register supplies
the heating and cooling. An electrical,
pseudo-historical chandelier hangs from
the center of the ceiling. Modern, pseudo-
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historical switch plates and outlet covers
are in place.

Other Features: The room has a plaster
Greek Revival style cornice, with egg-and-
dart motif. It is the only early room

cornice in the house.

Room 203: This Northwest Bedroom is one

of two larger and more finely detailed

bedrooms on the second level of the 1835-36

house, along with the Northeast Bedroom,
Room 201.

Room 203

Figure C-32

Flooring: The 1970s, tongue-and-groove,
2Y4” red oak flooring was laid east-to-west
on top of the original random width
flooring.
Walls:

original, was patched in the 1997-99

Early lime plaster, probably

repairs.
Doors: The doorway to the Entrance Hall,
Room 202, and the one to the Stair Hall,

Room 204, each has an early Greek
Revival style, five-panel door, presumably
the originals. Each door has two, 5-
knuckle, iron butt
“PERKS.”

their original Greek Revival style, paneled

hinges, stamped

Both doorways also retain

jambs and heads, and door casing.
Windows: Four 1835-36 window units
contain 12-over-12 light, double-hung,
window sash. All sashes but one are Type
A; one sash is Type B.

Ceiling: The flat plaster ceiling was
replaced in the 1997-99 repairs with
gypsum board.
Baseboards: The tall, 1835-36 vintage,
Greek Revival style baseboards with
beveled caps are intact.

Fireplace & Mantel: At the center of the
west wall, opposite the door from the
entrance hall, is the fireplace. The Greek
Revival style, wood mantel, presumably
dating to 1835-36, matches the one in the
other large 1835-36 bedroom, Room 201,
and is similar to the one in the third but
smaller 1835-36 bedroom, Room 205.
The mantel is wood, with two 2’-10” tall
fluted Doric columns on 3%” tall x 6”
plinths,

square supporting a flat,

unadorned frieze and square edged

rectangular shelf 1%” thick, 10” deep and
6’-5” long. It stands about 4’-6%” tall. A
insert

floral-patterned, iron  firebox
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matches the one in the smaller Southwest
Bedroom, Room 205. The cement hearth
has several Victorian tiles.

Finishes: The floor is varnished. Walls,
ceilings, and trim are painted. The
woodwork was stripped in 1997-99.
Mechanical & Electrical Systems: Two,
modern, metal, circular ceiling registers
supply the heating and cooling. An
electrical, pseudo-historical chandelier/fan
combination hangs from the center of the
ceiling. Modern, pseudo-historical switch
plates and outlet covers are in place.

Other Features: None are present.

Room 204: This room is the Upper Stair Hall.

Room 204

Figure C - 33

Flooring: The 1970s, tongue-and-groove,
2% red oak flooring is laid east-to-west
on top of the original random width
flooring.

Walls:
original, was patched in the 1997-99 repair
effort.

Early lime plaster, probably

Doors: A double doorway with a transom
matching that of the Hall, Room 202,
opens to the east; the doors are now
missing but presumably are among those
stored in Room 001. A doorway for a
single-leaf door leads to the Northwest
Bedroom, Room 203, and another to the
Southwest Bedroom, Room 205. All
three doorways have 1835-36 vintage,
Greek Revival style, paneled jambs and
heads, and fluted door casing.

Windows: A single window unit with
double-hung, 12-over-12 light sash is
centered on the west wall. One sash is
1835-36 era Type B and the other is Type
C and a Civil War era repair.

Ceiling: The flat plaster ceiling was
replaced with gypsum board in 1997-99.
The tall, 1835-36 vintage,

Greek Revival style baseboards with

Baseboards:

beveled cap are intact.

Fireplace & Mantel: None are present.
Staircase:  An elegant, curving, Greek
Revival style staircase to the first floor
level is positioned along the west wall.
The handrail height is now, with added
flooring, 3’-0%” above the floor at second
level where it terminates into a 3%” wide

square cut pilaster with simple cap.
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Figure C-34  Top stair post

Finishes: The floor is varnished. Walls,
ceilings, exterior door, stair risers,
balustrade, and trim are painted. All the
woodwork was stripped in the 1990s. The
handrail of the staircase is varnished
mahogany.

Mechanical & Electrical Systems: A
single, modern, metal, ceiling register
supplies the heating and cooling. There is
a modern, pseudo-historical, electrical
chandelier. Modern, pseudo-historical
switch plates and outlet covers are in
place.

Other Features: None are present.

Room 205: This, the Southwest Bedroom, is
smaller than the other two original 1835-36
bedrooms, Rooms 201 and 203 at the front of

the house.

Figure C-35 Room 205

Flooring: The 1970s, tongue-and-groove,
2%, red oak flooring was laid east-to-
west.

Walls: Early lime plaster, perhaps
original, was patched in the 1997-99
repairs.

Doors: The doorway to the Stair Hall,
Room 204, dates to 1835-36, and has
Greek Revival style paneled jambs and
head and trim. An original five-panel door
is hung on two, 4%” iron, butt hinges
stamped “GREENWOOD CIN O”. The
doorway to the Sleeping Porch, Room
209, was installed in an original window
opening, probably when the second level
was added in 1919; the four-panel door
and three-light transom are of early
twentieth century design. A third doorway
was installed in an original 1835-36
window opening on the east wall and
leads, now, to a modern bathroom in
Room 206A installed in 1997-99. This
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doorway has a three-light transom
matching the one leading to the Sleeping
Porch, suggesting that the doorway may
date to 1919; the door surround was

reworked, and a resin door cast in an

historical six-panel design was installed in
1997-99.

FigureC-36  “GREENWOOD CIN O” Hinge

Windows: Two window units of 1835-36
vintage, Greek Revival style design are
located on the west wall. Each is a 12-
over-12 light, double-hung, window sash.
All four sashes are Type B. The remnants
of two matching windows are immediately
opposite on the east wall. Both have had
their sashes removed. The north window
of the east wall retains its original sill and

stool, and has a poorly copied, 1997-99

vintage reproduction of a 1835-36 Greek
Revival style window surround. The south
window of the east wall has been stripped
of its original trim and modified for a
doorway.

Ceiling: The plaster ceiling was replaced
with gypsum board in the 1997-99 repair
effort.

Baseboards: The tall, 1835-36 vintage,
Greek Revival style baseboards with
beveled caps are largely intact along the
north and west walls. Portions have been
rearranged and patched along the east and
south walls where doorways have created
and a cupboard has been installed.
Fireplace & Mantel: At the center of the
south wall is the fireplace. The Greek
Revival style wood mantel presumably
dates to 1835-36, and stands 4°-6” tall.
Both are wood with two 2°-11" tall, fluted
Doric columns on 4” high, 6” square
pedestals. Each supports a vertical section
with a single narrow inset panel that
frames the frieze. The frieze is
characterized by horizontal bands that
recede in succession to a center flat band
2”7 in  width. The square-edged,
rectangular shelf is 11” deep by 6°-2” long
and 1%4” thick. The floral-patterned, cast-
iron insert matches the one in the
Northwest Bedroom, Room 203. There is

a modern, poured cement hearth.
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- Finishes: The floor is varnished. Walls,
ceilings, and trim are painted. The
woodwork was stripped in the 1997-99
repairs.

- Mechanical & Electrical Systems: Two,
modern, metal, circular ceiling registers
supply the heating and cooling. A
modern, electrical,  pseudo-historical
chandelier/fan combination hangs from the
center of the ceiling. Modern, pseudo-
historical switch plates and outlet covers
are in place.

- Other Features: A Greek Revival style
cupboard, the doors of which probably
date to 1835-36, is built into an original
1835-36 window opening, the space
between the chimney and the west wall.
The original cupboard undoubtedly
originated in the Dining Room, Room 105,
and was moved to the Dining Room
Extension, Room 106, in 1850-51, where
it was found in the 1990s to be badly
damaged by termites. In 1997-99, the
doors were salvaged and installed on a
new frame constructed in the current

second floor location.

Room 206A & B: Originally constructed as an
open porch in 1835-36, the space was
enclosed as a single ancillary room of

unknown function in the remodeling of 1850-

The space was subdivided into two

sections for bath and laundry in 1997-99.

Flooring: The Laundry Room, Room
206A, has sheet vinyl flooring, and the
Bathroom, Room 206B, has carpet. Both
floorings date to 1997-99.

L

Figure C-37 Room 206A

Walls: In 1997-99, the early lime plaster,
perhaps the original dating to 1850-51, of
the north, east, and west walls was
patched. The south wall, containing the
remnants of a small firebox added in 1850-
51, was furred out with gypsum board to
create a plumbing chase. A new gypsum
board on stud, cross wall running east-
west, was constructed to divide the room

into two sections.
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Doors: The doorway from the Laundry
Room, Room 206A, to the Hall Extension,
Room 207, retains its 1850-51 vintage,
Greek Revival style trim. The doorway to
the Southwest Bedroom, Room 205, is
installed in an original window opening.
The early window trim has been stripped,
and a resin door, cast in an historical six-
panel design, was installed in 1997-99.
The doorway also includes a early
twentieth century, three-light transom,
matching the one of the doorway from the
Southwest Bedroom, Room 205, to the
Sleeping Porch, Room 2009.

Windows: The two window units of 12-
over-12 lights, double-hung sash, match
the 1835-36 vintage, Greek Revival style
windows found elsewhere on the second
level of the original house.  These
windows were placed here in the 1850-51
expansion. Their places of origin are not
known, but likely were locations in Room
205. The window of Room 206A has one
Type A sash and one Type B. The
window of Room 206B has Type B sash.
Ceiling: The early lime plaster ceiling,
probably original, was replaced with
gypsum board in 1997-99.

Baseboards: The room was stripped of
most early baseboard elements in 1997-99.

A few elements were reused in the

Bathroom, Room 206B, but none in the
Laundry Room, Room 206A.

- Fireplace & Mantel: None are present.

- Finishes: Walls, ceilings and trim are
painted. The woodwork was stripped in
1997-99.

- Mechanical & Electrical Systems: A
modern metal circular ceiling register in
Room 206B supplies the heating and
cooling. The Laundry Room, Room
206A, contains washer/dryer hook-ups,
water heater, and air handler. A modern
lavatory, toilet, and bathtub was installed
in Room 206B in the 1997-99 repairs.
Both rooms have modern electrical
lighting fixtures installed in 1997-99.

- Other Features: None are present.

Room 207: Originally constructed as an open
porch in 1835-36, this room was enclosed in
the remodeling of 1850-51 to create an

extension of the Hall, Room 202.

Figure C-38 Room 207, looking into Room 202
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Flooring: The 1970s, 2%” tongue-and-
groove, red oak flooring was laid east-west
on top of the 1850-51 flooring.

Walls: In 1997-99, the early lime plaster,
presumably the original dating to 1850-51,
was patched.

Doors: The openings to the Hall, Room
202, and the Upper Stair Hall, Room 204,
apparently date to 1835-36 as indicated by
the decorative lintel panels. Either
opening could have been a doorway or a
window, originally. After 1850-51, both
were doorways with transom. Both have
paneled jambs and heads, and no trim on
this side of the openings, except for the
original paneled lintel. The doorway to
Room 206 was constructed in 1850-51. It
was constructed for a pocket door with
transom; the transom is missing and a five-
panel door of 1835-36 design is now hung
as a swinging door with early, 5% iron
butt hinges. The door trim is Greek
Revival style dating to 1850-51. The
doorway with transom to Room 208 was
constructed as a pocket door in 1850-51,
and the pocket door is still in place. The
door trim is Greek Revival style dating to
1850-51.

Windows: None are present.

Ceiling: The lime plaster ceiling,

probably original, patched in 1997-99.

- Baseboards: The tall, 1850-51 vintage,
Greek Revival style baseboards with flush
caps, mimicking the 1835-36 designs
found in the earliest portions of the house,
are intact.

- Fireplace & Mantel: None are present.

- Finishes: The floor is varnished. Walls,
ceilings, and trim are painted. The
woodwork was stripped in the 1997-99
repair effort.

- Mechanical & Electrical Systems: There
IS a modern, metal, circular, ceiling
register. A modern, electrical, pseudo-
historical ~ chandelier/fan  combination
hangs from the center of the ceiling. There
are modern, pseudo-historical switch
plates and outlet covers.

- Other Features: None are present.

Room 208 A & B: Originally constructed as
part of an open porch in 1835-36, this section
was enclosed in the remodeling of 1850-51.
With apparent direct connection to the
Northeast Bedroom, it was ideal for ancillary

functions, including use as a nursery.
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Figure C-39 Room 208A

Flooring: The 1970s, 2%” tongue-and-
groove, red oak flooring was laid east-west
on top of the 1850-51 flooring.

Walls: In 1997-99, the early lime plaster,
presumably the original dating to 1850-51,
of the north and west walls was patched;
the east and south walls were furred out
with gypsum board for plumbing chases.
At the same time, a gypsum board on stud
cross wall was constructed to subdivide
the room into two bathrooms.

Doors:  The doorways to the Hall
Extension, Room 207, and to the
Northeast Bedroom, Room 201, retain
1850-51 vintage, Greek Revival style trim.

Windows: There are two window
openings for double-hung window units,
both in Room 208A. Both conform to the
1835-36 design features found in the
earliest part of the house. They were
moved to their current locations during the
1850-51 remodeling.

origin are not known, but they would

Their places of

likely be along the south wall of the
Northeast Bedroom, Room 201. The
window unit now on the east wall is
blocked in. The window unit now on the
south wall has two Type A sashes. A third
double-hung window unit was removed
from the south wall of Room 208B during
the 1997-99 remodeling.

Ceiling: The early lime plaster ceiling
was replaced with gypsum board in 1997-
99.
Baseboards:  The baseboards of both
208A and 208B are modern, dating to the
1997-99 remodeling.

Fireplace & Mantel: A small, corner
fireplace was installed in 1850-51. In
1997-99, the firebox was blocked off and
the mantel placed in storage in Room 002.
The mantel is made of painted wood. Its
most distinctive feature is the decorated
frieze containing a classical urn at the

center flanked by a garland on either side.
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Room 208 mantel

Figure C-40

- Finishes: Walls, ceilings, and trim are
painted. The woodwork was stripped in
1997-99.

- Mechanical & Electrical Systems: Two,

modern, electrical,  pseudo-historical
chandeliers hang from the ceiling of Room
208A; one hangs in Room 208B. There are
modern, pseudo-historical switch plates
and outlet covers. A modern, metal ceiling
register in each room section provides
heating and cooling. Both room sections
have a modern lavatory, toilet, and
shower.

- Other Features: None are present.

Construction Characteristics: Building
Sections of 1913/1919

Structural Systems
The 1913

bathroom addition sits on a two wythe, 8”

Foundations Walls & Piers:

wide, brick perimeter foundation wall that

abuts the south wall of the house. The bricks
used in the foundation appear to be salvaged
from several structures. The workmanship
above grade is very amateurish. The design
characteristics of the footings, if any, are not

known.

The 1919 addition at the south end of the ell
relies on part of the brick foundation walls of
two early buildings: the south end of the
original 1835-36 ell and the north wall of the
1835-36 Kitchen Building. In both cases, the
brick wall is three wythe, or about 1’-2” thick,
constructed of the same reddish-orange brick
found throughout the 1835-36 construction.
About midpoint between the two end walls is
a row of brick piers running east to west.
These piers are constructed of a different
brick, brownish in appearance. The design of
a footing, if any, for these walls and piers is
not known.

Floor Framing: The floor framing of the
1913 addition is dimensional 2” x 8” lumber.
Because of extensive rot and termite damage,
a number of additional 2” x 8” were sistered
onto existing framing during the 1997-99

repair campaign.

The first floor framing of the 1919 addition is
composed of a number of salvaged timbers,

some whitewashed and some not, and
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conventional 2” x 10” joists (actual 1 5/8” x 9
3/8.”)

Roof Framing: The roof framing of the 1913
addition was not accessible, but would be
expected to be lightweight conventional

framing of 2” nominal dimension.

The roof framing of the 1919 addition is
The

roof deck is also salvage material in a wide

salvaged lumber, 3” x 5,” set 22” o.c.

variety of widths.

Exterior Features

Roofs & Rainwater Collection/Dispersal: The
1913 addition has a shed roof with 5-V
galvanized roofing panels. A four-inch,
aluminum gutter and downspout brings the

rainwater to grade.

The 1919 addition has a standing seam, terne

metal roof. It has no gutters.

Chimneys: Neither addition has a chimney.

The 1913

addition has a nominal 1” x 4” fascia board.

Roof Cornice & Fascia Boards:

The 1919 addition has a nominal 1” x 6”

fascia board.

Walls:

are covered with weatherboard.

Both additions have stud walls and
Both have
extensive amounts of recently installed siding
with 4"

fasteners.

exposure and wire nails for

Doorways: there are no exterior doorways on
the 1913 addition.

The 1919 addition has an exit on the south
elevation. The exterior door casing is plank
1” x 4” and the door is a cast resin, six-panel
door of an historical design.
Windows & Shutters:  Along its south
elevation, the 1913 addition has a 2-over-2
light, double-hung sash window,
approximately 27-10” x 5’-2” with Type D
muntin profile. In addition, there is next to the
window a one-light transom, approximately

1°-3” x 2°-10.”

The first level of the 1919 addition has two
3’-6” x 6’-2,”

windows with Type D muntins on the east and

large, double-hung sash
west elevations. At second level, a continuous
row of double-hung sash windows, about 3”-
0” x 5’-2,” with Type F muntins continues
along the entire west and south elevations and

halfway across the east elevation.
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Porches:

The 1913 addition does not have a

porch.

The 1919 addition has a small porch landing

with two runs of stairs on its south elevation

outside its first level door. This porch and

stairs configuration was constructed in 1997-

99 of treated, nominal lumber and is

unpainted.

Interior Features

Figure C-41

Room 002

Room 002:

Flooring: Poured cement, set at grade,

forms the flooring. This cement was

poured after the brick piers were
constructed. An earlier flooring of brick
or even dirt may be below the current
cement flooring.

Walls: The 1835-36 south foundation wall
of the house ell and porch forms the north
wall of this space. The east one-half of the
south wall is the remnant wall of the

Kitchen Building, now demolished; the

west one-half of this wall was constructed
in 1919. From grade up to a height of
about 3’-37,

parged with a Portland cement-rich stucco,

the brickwork has been

undoubtedly an attempt to stem rising
damp. The east and west ends are
enclosed with lattice work also dating,

probably, to 1919.

Figure C —42

Remnant of Kitchen Building wall

Doors: A single door constructed of the
same lattice as the end walls provides
entry at the west elevation.

Windows: No windows are present.
Ceiling: The underside of the 1 5/8” x
9%, and various reused framing members
that constitute the first-floor level joists
and flooring forms the ceiling.
Baseboards: None are present.

Fireplaces & Mantels: None are present.
Finishes: The lattice is painted.

Other Features: A below grade, brick
cistern, now abandoned, is located in the

southwest quadrant of this space. The
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cross that the Sisters of Mercy installed at
the pediment of the front porch is also

stored in this room.

Room 109 A & B:

subdivided into a roughly equal space by a

The first level is

north-south partition wall. The west room,
Room 109A, contains a modern residential
kitchen installed in 1997-99 with cabinets
along the north, west, and south walls, a large
center island, gas stove, and electric
refrigerator. A straight run of stairs along the
south walls leads to the second level. The east
room, Room 109B, became a bedroom in the
1997-99 remodeling; the space below the
stairs is a closet.

Figure C-43 Room 109A

- Flooring: The flooring of the Kitchen
(Room 109A) is 1997-99 vintage sheet
vinyl, while that of the Bedroom (Room

109B) is similar vintage carpet.

Walls: Except for the gypsum board on
studs partition wall installed in 1997-99 to
subdivide the room, the walls retain their
1919 vintage 3%” beaded boards applied
on the vertical.

Figure C-44

Room 109B

Doors:  Throughout the first level, the
door casings are formed by simple, 1”7 x 4”
plank pine boards of nominal dimensions.
The doors in the openings between Rooms
109A and 109B, between Room 109B and
its adjoining bathroom (Room 106B) and
between 109A and the porch, are all cast
resin, six-panel doors of a historic design
installed in the 1997-99 remodeling. The
door to the closet beneath the stairs is
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board and batten construction using the
3Y%4” beaded boards. The door to the stairs
is a modern hollow core slab door.

- Windows: There are four large windows,
approximately 3’-6” x 6’-2”. Each has 2-
over-2 light, double hung, 1919 vintage,
Type D sash. Two windows are on the
east elevation of Room 109B and two are
on the west wall of Room 109A.

- Ceiling: The same 1919 era, 34" beaded
board that is applied to the walls is also
applied to the ceiling.

- Baseboards: Nominal 1”x 4” serves as
baseboard at all walls. There is no cap.

- Fireplaces & Mantels: None are present.

A round, metal flue cover is high on the

north wall behind the Dining Room
chimney.
- Finishes: All the wood wall and ceiling

material, as well as the trim and door and
window units, are stained a dark brown
color and varnished.
- Mechanical & Electrical: Two modern
rectilinear metal floor registers in each
room section provides the heating and
Each room section also has a

light/fan

cooling.

modern,  electric  ceiling
combination.
- Other

connecting the

1919

levels is

Features: The stair
two floor
straightforward in design. The balusters

are stock square trim material of the

period. The newels are stock square posts.
The cabinet in the southwest corner of the
beaded

board material that appears and the wall

kitchen in constructed of 3Y%”

and ceiling, and apparently dates to the

early  construction of the room.
Room 209 A & B: A large, open second level
room was constructed in 1919 by the Sisters
of Mercy to be their Sleeping Porch. It
until  the 1997-99

remodeling when partition walls of gypsum

remained that way
board on studs were constructed to create a
Bathroom with closet (Room 209B) in the
northeast corner. The remaining L-shaped

space is Room 209A.

Room 209A

Figure C - 45

- Flooring: The tongue-and-groove, 3%.”

pine flooring, running east-to-west,

remains from the original construction of

1919. This flooring is exposed in Room
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209A.  Carpet was installed in the
Bathroom (Room 209B) in 1997-99.
Walls: In carving out Room 209B from
Room 209, two stud walls were
constructed with gypsum board on both
sides. These two walls form the south and
west walls of the new Bathroom, Room
209B. The existing north and east walls of
Room 209B were furred out with gypsum
board on studs to create plumbing chases.
Therefore, all wall surfaces of Room 209B
are gypsum board. The larger, remaining
portion of the Sleeping Porch, now Room
209A, has, in addition to these 1997-99
vintage gypsum board on stud walls, the
original 1919, 3% beaded board, applied
vertically, for wall surface on its entire
south and west elevations, and part of its
east elevation. For its north elevation, it
has the original, exposed brick, of the
south elevation of the house ell.

Doors: The doorway casing between the
two room sections of this room, and to a
small closet are all constructed of 1997-99
vintage, nominal 1” x 4” boards; the doors
are 1997-99 vintage, cast resin six-panel,
historical design.

Windows: When constructed in 1919, a
continuous row of 6-over-6 light, double-
hung, Type F windows extended along the
entire east, south and west walls of Room

209. Each window opening is 3’-0” x 5’-

2”. Three windows were removed from
the east wall when a bathroom was created
during the 1997-99 remodeling. Now, in
Room 209A there are two windows on the
east wall, eight on the south and five on
the west. In Room 209B, the Bathroom,
there are no windows.

Ceiling: The beaded board ceiling of
Room 209A was installed in 1919. The
ceiling boards run north-south. In Room
209B, gypsum board was installed in
1997-99.

Baseboards: Room 209 was constructed
without baseboards and there are no
baseboards in Room 209A. Room 209B
has nominal 1x plank boards for its
baseboards.

Fireplaces & Mantels: None are present.
Finishes: The brick, wood, and gypsum
board wall and ceiling surfaces are
painted. The wood floor is varnished.
Mechanical & Electrical Systems: Two,
modern, metal, ceiling registers provide
heating and cooling for the Sleeping Porch
(Room 209A) and one services the
Bathroom (Room 209B).
electrical, pseudo-historical chandelier and

A modern,

a light/fan combination fixture are hung
from the ceiling of the Sleeping Porch. A
pseudo-historical chandelier and modern
electrical fixtures are in the Bathroom.
The Bathroom has modern lavatory, toilet,

Spring 2005 « JOSEPH K. OPPERMANN — ARCHITECT, P.A. » Page 1.C.41



PEMBERTON’S HEADQUARTERS
Vicksburg National Military Park, Vicksburg, MS

HISTORIC STRUCTURE REPORT
Part I.C Physical Description

and bathtub. The electrical and plumbing -
fixtures date to the 1997-99 remodeling.

- Other Features: A simple, utilitarian,
service stair, probably dating to the -
original 1919 construction of the Sleeping
Porch, is in the southeast corner of Room -
209.

Room 110A & B: This small, frame addition
was constructed ¢.1913 to provide indoor -
restroom facilities. During the repairs of
1997-99, a gypsum board on stud wall was
installed to subdivide the room into a Half-
Bath (Room 110A) and a Laundry Room -
(Room 110B).

FigureC-46 Room 110B

Flooring:  Sheet vinyl flooring was
installed throughout during the repairs of
1997-99.

Walls: Gypsum board was installed on the
walls during the repairs of 1997-99.
Doors: A modern slab door was installed
in the dividing wall. A Victorian, four-
panel door is in the doorway that leads to
Room 108.

Windows: An early twentieth century, 2/2
light, Type D, double hung sash window
and a one-light transom are located in the
south exterior wall.

Ceilings: Gypsum board was installed
during the 1997-99 repairs.

Baseboards: Modern baseboards of
nominal 17 x 4” plank boards were
installed in the 1997-99 repairs.

Fireplaces & Mantels: None are present.
Finishes: All wood trim and gypsum
board surfaces are painted.

Mechanical & Electrical Systems: A
modern, electric ceiling light was installed
in each room section during the 1997-99
repairs. In addition, new copper water
pipes, a water heater, and washer/dryer
hook-ups were installed.

Other Features: None are present.
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GAS-LIGHT COMPANY.

Gen. B. 8. Tappan, President.
W. H. Shaw, Secretary.

Directors,
B. 8. Tappan, Peter Clarke,
B. F. Wilson, W. J. Balfour.

Works erected in 1854,

D. Carnege, Superinterident,
Juhn Merlett, Foreman.

—

Figure C-47 1860 City Directory
Utility Systems
The 1860 Vicksburg City Directory has an

advertisement for a local gas company,
established in 1854, and natural gas apparently
came early to the Willis-Cowan property.
Remnants of the iron gas supply lines popular
at mid-nineteenth century are beneath the
house as well as in the attic. The distribution
is less easy to follow at first-floor level
because of additional floor material at second
floor level that masks any patching to floors
for installing ceiling lights. There is a gas pipe
nib in the first floor ceiling of the stair hall,

however.

Figure C - 48

Early gas lines in the attic

In the attic, part of the pipe has been
disconnected when HVAC ductwork was
installed and perhaps with other work too, but
the remaining sections indicate gas lights were
present on the second floor in the stair hall,
both principal bedrooms (Rooms 201 and 203)
and the interconnecting hall (Room 202.) No
gas lighting fixtures were found on site,
however. An abandoned, early twentieth-
century gas water heater remains in basement
Room 001 and a furnace is in a ground level

crawl space.

The United Gas Improvement Co.

CONSTRUCTORS AND BUILDERS OF

GAS WORKS,

DREXEL BUILDING,

PHILADELFPHIA, PA.

SAMUEL T. BODINE,
G Masag

EDWARL

KANDAL MORG, ALEX. C.

0 otan !
WALTON CLARK, Asisfant Geneval S

wperintondent,

GAS STOVES.
Tue Vickssure Gas Lwcnr Co., operated by The
United Gas Improvement Co,, desire to call attention to
the convenience, cleanliness, healthfulness, and economy
of cooking by gas fires, and invite an inspection of the

gas stoves at their office.

Figure C-49  Gas advertisement from “In and
About Vicksburg,” 1890

Electricity came to Vicksburg in 1886. The
earliest evidence of electricity in the house is
the late-nineteenth  century/early-twentieth

century ceramic insulators found in the
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basement, Room 002, of the frame addition
and in the attic of the original house. The
previous owner reported that the house was
largely rewired in the 1970s and completed in
1997-99 when the current lighting fixtures
were installed. Nothing was observed to

contradict those statements.

Figure C-50 Knob and tubing

The previous owner also reported installing in
1997-99 the current split system of gas heat

and electric cooling.

Figure C-51

Abandoned furnace

Summary of Conditions
The house has the overall appearance of being
The 1997-99

remodeling installed a new electrical system, a

in very good condition.

new mechanical system, new plumbing, and
new finishes throughout. In general, the house
is in sound condition. However, there are
some maintenance conditions that will need to

be addressed in the near future:

- The slate roof over the 1835-36 and 1850-
51 construction periods is close to the end
of its projected life and will need to be

replaced soon.

- The brick chimneys and associated roof

parapets are in need of repointing.

- Site drainage is poor. The positive slope
away from the house has been lost through
erosion at downspouts. Water pools at the

base of the house.

- Sections of the brickwork, particularly at
the base of the building from grade up to
about four feet, have been repointed with a
Portland cement-rich mortar.  In the

basement rooms, 001 and 002, a Portland

cement-rich stucco has been applied to the
lower sections of the interior surfaces of
the brick walls. Though done in response

to rising damp, the Portland cement mortar
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and stucco further contribute to the
moisture problem: they force groundwater
higher up the walls to escape, causing
brick to spall along the way and keeping
the building wet.

Neither the porch deck nor the framing
members of the west elevation side porch
are treated lumber. Further, the deck was
not back primed. These repairs, made in
1997-99, already have extensive decay.
The constantly moist conditions are

contributing to the decay of adjoining

early elements.

Figure C-52  Fungus growing on the west porch

balustrade

The 1997-99 era replacement floor
framing of the 1913 restroom addition is
not treated lumber. Sections of the new

lumber now have decay.

Termites appear to have been a persistent
problem; many of the first floor framing
members have termite damage. Though
no current activity was observed, the wet
building conditions are an invitation for

further activity.

Structural cracks in the brickwork of the
east elevation exterior wall can be
attributed to the undercutting of grade for
construction of the late nineteenth-century
frame residence next door. Remnants of a
series of unsuccessful attempts at creating
a perimeter retaining wall are present.
This unresolved problem needs to be
addressed.
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